United States of America v. 286,161 bottle... herbal supplement capsules, tablets, cookies, and teas Doc. 23

UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMRRICA, )
)
Plaintiff, )
)
)

V.
)

286,161 bottles, 209 dietary supplement cookie )

packs, and 45,521 packs, boxes, or granules, )

more @ less, of an article of food, specifically ) No. 19 C 3876

various herbal supplement capsules, tablets, )

cookies, and teas, as described in AppeAdi ) JudgeSara L. His

manufactured, prepargpacked, heldor )

distributedby LIFE RISING CORPORTION, )

)

Defendard, )

)

LIFE RISING CORPORATION, )
)
Claimant. )

OPINION AND ORDER

After the Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) notséverakegulatory violations
during an inspection dflaimant Life Rishg Corporatior(“Life Rising”), the FDAs&azed
thousands of dietary supplements pursuasetion 334 ofthe Federal Bod, Drug, and
Coganetic Act(*FDCA”), 21 U.S.C. § 30&t seq Life Rising row moves to dismiss the
government’s complaint for forfeitain rempursuanto Federal Rule of CiviProcedure
12(b)(6) andhe Suppemental Admiralty or Maritime Claims aidset Forfeiture Rules and
G for failure to state alaim. Because the government Ipdesaded sufficient fact® support a
reasonable bief that itcan prove the seized ites are subject to forfeiture, the Court denieg Lif

Rising's motion to dismiss
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BACK GROUND?
From February 28, 2019, to May 17, 2019, FipeA conducte aninspecton of Life
Rising, a dietarysupplement @dtributor locéed at 7884 South Quincyr8et Willowbrook,
lllinois, with additional storage and manufacturing operations at 7886 and 7888 South Quincy
Street Inspectors observed several violations of the current good manufact@atige
regulationg* CGMPS") prescribedunder 21 C.F.RPart111for operations involving dietary
supplements. These violations included:

No written training procedures;
No written procedures for pest control;
No written procedures for quality control operations;
No written procedures for maintaining, cleaning, and sanitizing equipment;
Failure to properly sanitize equipment;
Failureto assign one or more employees to supervise overall sanitation;
Inadequate batch production records;
Failureto establishthe reliability of thesupplier’scertificate of analysis by
confirming the results of the supplisitests;
Failureto periodically reconfirm supplier’s certificate of analysis;
0. Failureto maintain a certificate of analysis that includes a description of the tests
and testesults;
11. Failureto verify that finished batches of dietary supplementisspecifications
for identity, purity, strength, and composition;
12.  Failureto establish specifications for identity, purity, strength, and composition of
dietary supplements;
13. Failureto prepare anpduction record for every batch of dietary supplements;
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! The facts in the background secteme taken fronthe government'somplaintandare presumed true
for the purpose of resolvirigfe Rising's motion to dismiss. Sedrnich v. Vorwald 664 F.3d 206, 212
(7th Cir. 2011);Local 15, Int'l Bhd. of Elec. Workers, ARLIO v. Exelon Corp.495 F.3d 779, 782 (7th
Cir. 2007). The Court haslso reliedonform FDA 483, attached to the governmentesponse briefA
court normally cannot consider extrinsic evidencdit converting a motion to dismiss into one for
summary judgmentHecker v. Deere & Cp556 F.3d 575, 582—-83 (7th Cir. 2009). Where a docuisent
referenced in the complaint and central to plaintiff's clainosyever, the Court may consider it in ruling
on the motion to dismisdd. The Court may also take judicial notice of matters of public record
including reports by administrative agees SeeBell v. City of Country Club Hills841 F.3d 713, 716
n.1(7th Cir. 2016)(court maytake judicial ndte of facts‘originat[ing] from a report of an
administrative body”)Gen. Elec. Capital Corp. v. Lease Resolution Cdt8 F.3d 1074, 10884 (7th
Cir. 1997) cours “may only take judicial notice from sourceghose accuracy cannot reasondisy
guestoned” (citing Fed. R. Evid. 201(b)) De La Paz v. Bayer Healthcare LLC59 F. Supp. 3d 1085,
1089 n.1(N.D. Cal. 2016)taking judicial notte ofform FDA 483in considering motion toisimiss).

Life Rising does not contegtdt theCourt can cosiderform FDA 483
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14.  Failureto establish and follow a master manufacturing record for each unique
formulation of dieary supplement and for each batch size;

15.  Failure to idenfly the reference standarchlibration method, anchlibration
readings in calibration documentation;

16.  Failureto collect and hold reserve samples of dietary supplements that were
distributed;

17.  Failureto clearlyidentify, hold, and control, under a quarantine system for
appropriate disposition, packedyand labeled dietary supplements rejected for
distribution.

Many of thealleged volations were similar or idemtal to violations contained in a warning
letter theFDA previously issued thife Risingin 2017.

At the end of the 2019 inspection, on May thié, FDA issued a forrRDA 483to Life
Risings quality control nanagerputlining 27 “objectionable conditionsindgiving specific
examples of thenspectors’ obervations Doc. 1 1 12.The FDAinventoriedLife Rising's
dietary supplemen@nd plazed them under administiige detention

LEGAL STANDARD

In considering a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, the Court accepts as true-all well
pleaded facts in the plaiff’'s complaint and draws all reasonable inferences from those facts in
the plaintiff'sfavor. AnchorBank, FSB v. Hofe849 F.3d 610, 614 (7th Cir. 2011). Ordinarily,
the complaint need onbtatea “plausibé claim for relief and providefair noticeto the
defendant.Ashcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 679 (200%ee alsdell Atl. Corp.v. Twombly 550
U.S. 544, 555 (2007)The Supplemental Rules for Admiralty or Maritime Claims and Asset
Forfeiture Actions provide a heightened pleading standard in civil forfeiture actasg the
government must plead tisgcumstancegiving riseto theaction“with such particularity that
the defendant or claimant will be able, without moving for a more definite statement, to

commence an investigation of the facts and to frame a responsive pleading.” Fed. R. Civ. P.

Supp. RE(2)(a). Additionally, the complaint mst: (a)be verified; (b) state the grounds for



subjectmatter jurisdictiorandin remjurisdiction (c) describe the property with reasonable
particularity;(d) statethe locationwhere the prperty wasseized (e) identify the statetunder
which the forfeiture action is brought; a(fl“state sufficiently dtailed facts to support a
reasonable belief that the government will be able to meet its burden daptoal” Fed. R.
Civ. P. Supp. RG(2)(9-(f). The government st cary its burden by a pponderance of the
evidence.18 U.S.C8 983c)(1). While the chimant may move to dismiss a forfeiture action
under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b), “teenplaint maynot be dismissed on the ground
that thegovernment did nchave adequate evidence at the time the complainfilwdgo
establish the forfeitabiy of the property. Fed. R Civ. P. Supp. R. G(8)(6)); 18 U.S.C.
8 983a)(3)(D).
ANALYSIS

Life Risingargues that thegovernmentails to state a claim under theightened
pleading requirementsr forfeiture actions Beforereaching the substance of Life Risiag’
motion to dismiss hte governmentmainginsthat the Court does not have the ability to consider
the sufficiencyof thecomplaint The government contends that the €acks jurisdictionto
review the FDA’'sdeterminatiorto initiatean enforcemenactionunderEwing v. Mytinger &
Casselberry, In¢.339 U.S. 594, 599-600 (199@)d adismissal on the pleadings is “no
different than the intervention proscribeddwing” Doc. 21 at 6. According to the
government, the Court may not intervene until theéigghave hathe opportunity to fully
litigate theunderlyingmeritsof the casgotherwise”[tfhe means which Congress provided to
protect consumers against the injurious consequences of protracted proceedingsembeld

seriously impaired.”"Ewing, 339 U.Sat601.



The government misconstruesing. Ewingheld that district courts do not have
jurisdiction to reviewan administrativgprobable causdetermination to initiatenforcement
proceedings pursuant to tRBCA. Id. at 600 (“Judicial review of this preliminary phase of the
administrative procedure does not fit the statutory scheme nor serve the policjFai@#g.”).
Ewinganalogzed theadministrativedetermination to initiata seizure proceedirtg the return
of an indictment in a criminaase

The impact of an indictment is on the reputation or liberty of a

man. The same is true where a prosecutor files an infooma

charging violations of the law. The harm to property and business

can also be incalculable by the mere institution of proceedings.

Yetit has never been held that the hand of goverhmeist be

stayed until the courts have an opportunity to detegmihether

the governrant is justified in instituting suit in the courts.
Id. at 599. Due processloes not require a hearing before digency can exercise igscretion.
Id. Instead, [i]t is sufficient, where only property rights are concerned, that there is at some
stage an @portunity for a hearing and a judicial determinatiotd. Tha opportunity comes “in
the seizure action itself.Pharmadyne Labs., Inc. v. Kenne896 F.2d 568, 571 n.7 (3d Cir.
1979)(“[W] hen seizure actions are pending, the statute provides an exclusive forum in which all
constitutional, statutory and factual isseas be raisedThat forum is the seizure proceediig.
The cases the governmaaites to are inapplicable because thegypliedEwing in the context of a
motion for an injunction. SeeUnited States v. Alcon Lah$36 F.2d 876, 881 (1st Cir. 1981)
(“This injunction exceeded the district court’s authority. To prevent this sort of erodihg of
agencys protective powers, the Supreme CourEiming. . . held that district courtack
jurisdiction to enjoin multiple seizure actions instituted by the FDA under the)A&tdrke,

Davis & Co. v. Califanp564 F.2d 1200, 1206 (6th Cir. 1977)](t was an abuse of discretion to

enjoin the FDA in the circumstances of this case wpergling enforcement actions provided an



opportunity for a full hearing before a colyt.United States v. 18 Cases, More or Less, of an
Article of Food, Each Case Containing 120/100 Tablet Bothles 1:06ev-0406-GET, 2006

WL 8433081, at *2—3 (N.D. Ga. Mar. 13, 200B}tra Art, Inc. v. Consumer Prod. Safety
Commn, No. C-91-1336-MHP, 1991 WL 405183, at *6 (N.D. Cal. June 12, 1881J,sub

nom. X-Tra Art v. Consumer Prod. Safety Comrag9 F.2d 793 (9th Cir. 19925imilar to

how courts review the fficiency of an indictment to ensureapprises a defendant of the
charges against hirseeUnited States v. Kha®37 F.3d 1042, 1049 (7th Cir. 2019), the Court
can review the sufficiency of the complaint in this caBed. R. Civ. P. Supp. R. G(8)(b)(i)*
claimant who estaldhes standing to contest forfeiture may move to dismiss the action under
Rule 12(b).).

Turning to the sufficiency of the complaihife Rising argueshegovernment hafailed
to plead sufficientfacts to suppa a reasonabledbief that thee is probable cause torfeit the
seizal objects. Spefically, Life Rising claimsthatthecomplaint does not plead with digient
particdarity why all of theseizedtemsareaduteratedor howLife Rising s practiceviolated
theCGMPs. Life Rising points, as an example, to the governsaiiggatiorthatLife Rising
failed toestablish spafications br the idenity, purity, strength, andompositionof components
used to manaicture thalietary supmments.Life Rising positsthis is not enough taentify the
specificarticles ttat were noncompliant dhereasorthey werenoncompliantsuch aswhether
the specifications wernonexistent or just incomplete.” Doc. 18 at 6.

At this stagehowever, the government need not show #lieof the iems are subject to
forfeiture. Fed. R. Civ. P. Supp. R. G(8)(lh); seeUnited States v. Aguila782 F.3d 1101,
1109 (9th Cir. 2015) We have consistently instructed district courts to wait until trial to

adjudicate arguments that arfion of the property that the government claims is not subject to



forfeiture.. . . The corollary othis instruction is thatie government need not show that all of
the claimed propertysitainted to satisfy Supplemental Rule G(2)(f United States,. One
Parcel of Real Prop.921 F.2d 370, 375 (1st Cir. 1990) (“Whether none, all, or only a portion of
the defendant property is forfeitable is not determined at the pleadings stagdriblit)atThe
government need only plead sufficiéattsto suppat “a reasonable belief” thalhe government
canprove is case.Fed. R. Civ. P. Supp. R. G(2)(f). Even so, the governimamestablished
sufficient facts tanfer thatall of the sézed itens were adulteratdd this case Under 21 U.S.C.
§ 342(g)(1), dietary supplemardire considered adulterated ifitheve been prepared, packed,
or held under conditions that do not meet current good manufacturing practice regulations.”
Here, all of theseized items were locatatthefacilitieson South Quing Street andseveralf
the violationsseem taenderanyitem within the facilitiesnoncomplant. For exampleFDA
inspecbrsnoted hat Life Risingallegedly failedo maintinwritten training proceduresyritten
procedures for pest contratritten procedures for maintaining, cleaning, and sanitizing
equipmentas well aswritten procedures for quality control operations. As long as the items
werelocatedin Life Rising s facilities whichthe government allegesheitems would seem to
be“preparedpacked or hal under conditioristhat failed to meet thEGMPsandwere
therefore adulteratechder thestatute. This supports: reesonable blief that the government
will be able tocarry its burden to provéhe seized property was adulterageul subjet to
forfeiture.

Life Risingmoves in the alternativefor a more definitive statement to allowtat
properlyprepare a responsive ptiag pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(&).a forfeiture case, the
Feder&dRules of Civil Procedure muselread inigght of the Suppt¢mental RulesSeeUnited

States v. $8,221,877.16 in U.S. Currer®30 F.3d 141, 149 (3d Cir. 2003) (“Parties to civil



forfeiture proceedings are the servants of two procedural masters: the Suppalétoées
specially devised for admitg and in rem proceedings, and tienerally applicable Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure. ... The balance between the two is struck in favor of the
Supplemental Rules[.]"United States v. One Gulfstream\Get Aircraft 941 F. Supp. 2d 1,
13 (D.D.C. 2013) (“Although the Supplemental Rules govern, the normal set of rules may help
to clarify any ambiguity). RuleE requiresthe government tplead he circumstnces giing
rise to the action witkufficient particularity that the claimaoan framea reponsive pleading
and undertake an investigation. Fed. R. Civ. P. Supp(&(a). “Although the language of
Rule E differs from Rule G, in practice courts have applied the saasonable beliéstandard
to both rules.”United States v. Funds ihed Amount of Twenty-Two Thousand, Two Hundred
Forty Dollars ($22,240)No. 11-C-00148, 2011 WL 5169980, at *4 (N.D. Ill. Oct. 31, 2011)
(citing United States v. Mondragp813 F.3d 862, 865 (4th Cir. 2002)). But to the exarie E
requiresmore,it must gve the claimanta point from which to begihtheir investigation and
responsive pleadingUnited States v. $39,000 In Canadian Currer@91 F.2d 1210, 1221-22
(10th Cir. 1986). Courtisavemostlyexamined Rule & particularity requiremernih the catext
of criminal casesnd found thaallegatiors regarding ‘hedate and time of thseizure, a
description of the property seized, and detailed information regardimiy¢thenstances and
investigation leading up to the seizure” tododficient. Fundsin the Amount of Twenty-Two
Thousand2011 WL 5169980, at *4eeUnited States v. Funds in the Amount of Fdiitye
Thousand Fifty Dollars ($45,050.00Yo. 06 C 6948, 2007 WL 2323307, at *7 (N.D. Ill. Aug. 9,
2007)(allegations that identifietthe datetime and location of the seizuescrib¢d] the
amount of money seized; and set forth the reasons for thee&evere emugh to allow

claimant toinvedigatethe facts and frame a responsive gieg). Here thecomplaintincludes



the date, time, ahlocation of tle seizurea description of the items seizehd tle reasas for
the seizure This satisfies the particulaity requirements unddRule E

If there were any doubt about the complaisufficiencyin this respegithe government
has alsqrovidedform FDA 483 which provides specifiexamples othealleged violations.
SeeDoc. 21 at 21 (noting, for exampliat “The production of SKIN-S powder, lot 190304,
and ZGC powder, lot 190322, were observed during this inspection. The produeacnd
utensils utilized in the compounding of powder, and in the production chtales, are
cleaned without the use of detergents and sanitiderkife Risingassertshisis still insufficient
but does noéxplain what nore the gvernment nedprovide. Thegovernment, haever,has
pleaded enougfacts to state a claim amday proceed with its case.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court denids Risings motionto dismiss [8].

(

SARA L. ELLIS
United States District Judge

Dated:February 3, 2020




